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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF DNIC K HOLDING PLC 
 
Report on the consolidated financial statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of DNick Holding plc for the 
year ended 31 December 2012 which comprise the consolidated balance sheet, the consolidated 
statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity, cash flows, the principal accounting 
policies and the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their 
preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by 
the European Union. 
 
Respective responsibilities of directors and audito r 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities (set out on page 10), the 
directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements and for being 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on 
the consolidated financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards 
on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices 
Board’s (APB’s) Ethical Standards for Auditors. 
 
Scope of the audit of the financial statements  
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the consolidated financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: 
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s circumstances and have been 
consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates 
made by the directors; and the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. In 
addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Report of the Directors to 
identify material inconsistencies with the audited consolidated financial statements. If we become 
aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our 
report. 
 
Opinion on financial statements 
In our opinion: 
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at 31 December 2012 and of its profit for the year then ended; 
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adopted by the European Union; 
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adopted by the European Union and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the 
Companies Act 2006; and 
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the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS 
Regulation. 

 
Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies  Act 2006 
In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the 
consolidated financial statements are prepared is consistent with the consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
Matters on which we are required to report by excep tion 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following: 
 
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion: 
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Other matter 
We have reported separately on the parent company financial statements of DNick Holding plc for the 
year ended 31 December 2012. 
 
 
 
 
 
Imran Farooq (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
For and on behalf of R�‚dl & Partner Limited, Statutory Auditor 
 
170 Edmund Street 
Birmingham 
B3 2HB 
 
Date: ����  June 2013 
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DNick Holding plc - Group
Income Statement for the Year 2012

Notes EUR EUR EUR EUR

1. Sales (19) 137,026,168 135,929,610

2. Other operating income (20) 2,720,476 3,501,053

3. Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in process -10,021,779 11,369,758

4. Own capitalised work 0 84,296

Operating income 129,724,865 150,884,717

5. Cost of materials -86,624,081 -108,484,738

a) Cost of raw materials, consumables and supplies

    and of purchased merchandise -76,440,625 -97,332,994

b) Cost of purchased services -10,183,456 -11,151,744

6. Personnel expenses -18,148,832 -16,986,732

a) Wages and salaries -15,056,540 -14,245,865

b) Social security and other pension costs -3,092,292 -2,740,867

7. Other operating expenses (21) -15,168,895 -20,144,773

8. Other taxes -436,639 -27,779

Sub-total ( 5.-8.) -120,378,447 -145,644,022

9. Share in profit and loss of joint ventures accounted for at equity 0 -702,006

Earnings before interest, taxes and depreciation / amortisation (EBITDA) 9,346,418 4,538,689

10. Amortisation / depreciation of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment (22) -2,446,192 -2,599,964

11. Interest and similar income (23) 245,402 209,700

12. Interest and similar expenses (23) -732,781 -1,415,340

13. Exchange gain/ losses (24) -1,806,652 912,971

Earnings before taxes 4,606,195 1,646,056

14. Taxes on income (25) 1,896,132 -1,895,504

a) Current taxes -812,497 -1,520,942

b) Deferred taxes 2,708,629 -374,562

Net loss/ profit for the year before result of discontinued operations 6,502,327 -249,448

Net profit for the year from discontinued operations (26) 0 9,687,631

Net profit for the year 6,502,327 9,438,183

Statement of Comprehensive Income for the Year 2012

Notes EUR EUR EUR EUR

Net profit for the year 6,502,327 9,438,183

Other comprehensive Income for the year, net of tax 2,061,073 -2,749,202

15. Exchange differences on translating foreign operations (18) -270,636 -232,552

16. Cash flow hedging (18)

      Reclassification to profit and loss 2,939,667 -692,786

      Current year gains / losses 389,847 -2,902,429

17. Deferred taxes on hedge instruments (18) -997,805 1,078,565

Total comprehensive Income 8,563,400 6,688,981

2012 2011

2012 2011
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DNick Holding plc - Group
Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2012

Notes EUR EUR

A. Current assets

I. Cash and cash equivalents (2) 7,742,649 11,184,258

II. Trade receivables / other assets

1. Trade receivables (3)

2. Receivables from affiliates

3. Derivatives (4)

4. Other assets (5)

Total receivables / other assets 19,060,449 15,616,400

III. Inventories

1. Raw materials, consumables and supplies

2. Work in process

3. Finished goods and merchandise

4. Prepaid inventories

Total inventories (6) 54,824,846 62,521,535

IV. Prepaid expenses

1. Other prepaid expenses

Total prepaid expenses 69,570 205,861

69,570 205,861

16,058,109 18,190,647

0 76,200

10,731,154 8,329,864

28,035,583 35,924,824

712,278 260,338

2,005,650 1,687,127

5,712,391 0

10,630,130 13,668,935

31.12.2012 31.12.2011
EUR EUR

Total current assets 81,697,514 89,528,054

B. Non-current assets

I. Intangible assets

1. Concessions, industrial rights, licences, etc.

2. Prepayments

Total intangible assets (7.1) 391,490 444,396

II. Property, plant and equipment

1. Land, land rights

2. Buildings, buildings on third-party land

3. Technical equipment and machinery

4. Other equipment, furniture, fixtures and office equipment

5. Prepayments and assets under construction

Total property, plant and equipment (7.2) 15,007,741 14,729,844

III. Non-current receivables

1. Loans to affiliates

Total non-current receivables (7.3) 10,000,000 0

IV. Deferred tax assets (8) 3,251,102 1,619,869

V. Other assets 41,550 42,543

Total non-current assets 28,691,883 16,836,652

Total assets 110,389,397 106,364,706

10,000,000 0

1,831,766 1,811,473

7,658,677 5,292,280

325,174 2,235,886

309,349 444,396

2,807,508 3,070,979

82,141 0

2,384,616 2,319,226
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Notes EUR EUR EUR EUR

A. Current liabilities

1. Current liabilities to banks (9)

2. Current finance lease liabilities

3. Prepayments received

4. Trade payables (10)

5. Provisions

a) Current tax provision (11)

b) Other provisions (12)

6. Liabilties to Affiliates

7. Derivatives (4)

8. Deferred income (13)

9. Other current liabilities (14)

Total current liabilities 20,650,377 24,941,938

B. Non-current liabilities

1. Non-current liabilities to banks (15) 900,000 1,635,167

2. Non-current finance lease liabilities 53,515 218,413

3. Deferred tax liabilities (8) 392,867 472,458

4. Non-current provisions

a) Provisions for pensions (16) 1,170,293 836,993

1,082,240

322,432 3,162,767

877,154 999,812

1,124,302

1,430,633 1,313,285

3,833,037 4,380,458

1,138 0

6,938,655 6,688,661

5,886,659 6,854,774

120,451 145,670

314,271115,916

31.12.2012 31.12.2011

b) Other provisions (17) 785,055 607,505

5. Other non current liabilities (14) 221,658 0

Total non-current liabilities 3,523,388 3,770,536

C. Equity

1. Issued capital 657,883 657,883

2. Capital reserve 51,762,757 51,762,757

3. a) Merger reserve -10,827,314 -10,827,314

b) Revaluation reserve 262,770 -2,068,939

c) Foreign exchange translation reserve -720,916 -450,280

4. Retained profits 38,578,125 29,139,942

5. Net profit 6,502,327 9,438,183

Total equity (18) 86,215,632 77,652,232

Total equity and liabilities 110,389,397 106,364,706

�$�S�S�U�R�Y�H�G���E�\���W�K�H���%�R�D�U�G���D�Q�G���V�L�J�Q�H�G���R�Q���L�W�V���E�H�K�D�O�I���E�\��

�'�U�����-�•�U�J�H�Q���(�����3�O�D�W�W �+�H�U�E�H�U�W���%�D�X�P�D�Q�Q

�'�L�U�H�F�W�R�U �'�L�U�H�F�W�R�U

�/�R�Q�G�R�Q�����������-�X�Q�H����������
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DNick Holding plc - Group
Statement of Changes in Equity for the year 2012

EUR (' 000s) Notes

82 51,762 -10,827 448 -218 29,716 70,963
Issue of bonus shares 576 -576 0

1. Net profit for the year 9,438 9,438

2. Cash flow hedges -reclassification to 
profit and loss (18) -693 -693

3. Revaluation of cash flow hedges (18) -2,902 -2,902

4. Deferred taxes on hedge instruments (18) 1,078 1,078

5. Currency translation differences (18) -232 -232

Total Comprehensive Income
for the period 0 0 0 -2,517 -232 9,438 6,689

Total equity as at 31/12/11 658 51,762 -10,827 -2,069 -450 38,578 77,652

EUR (' 000s) Notes

658 51,762 -10,827 -2,069 -450 38,578 77,652

1. Net profit for the year 6,502 6,502

2. Cash flow hedges -reclassification to 
profit and loss (18) 2,940 2,940

3. Revaluation of cash flow hedges (18) 390 390

4. Deferred taxes on hedge instruments (18) -998 -998

5. Currency translation differences (18) -271 -271

Total Comprehensive Income
for the period 0 0 0 2,332 -271 6,502 8,563

Total equity as at 31/12/12 658 51,762 -10,827 263 -721 45,080 86,215

Balance as at 01/01/2011

Translation
Reserve

Profit
Reserve

Capital 
Reserve Total

Profit
Reserve Total

Translation
Reserve

Balance as at 01/01/2012

Share 
Capital

Capital 
Reserve

Merger
Reserve

Revaluation 
Reserve 

Revaluation 
Reserve 

Share 
Capital

Merger
Reserve
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DNick Holding plc - Group
Cash Flow Statement for the Year 2012

 
 

TEUR TEUR

EBITDA from continuing operations 9,346 4,539

EBITDA from  discontinued operations 0 719

+/- Increase/decrease in non-current accruals 511 -152

-/+ Other non-cash income/expenses -1,291 -559

- Payments for taxes on income -177 -1,164

Gross-Cash-Flow 8,390 3,383

-/+ Increase/decrease in inventories 7,785 -9,336

-/+ Increase/decrease in trade receivables 3,042 -8,548

+/- Increase/decrease in trade payables 250 -1,233

+/- Increase/decrease in short term accruals -613 617

-/+ Increase/decrease in other working capital -6,364 3,528

+/- Currency gains / losses -1,807 913

- Interest payments -421 -1,225

Total Cash provided by / used by operating activiti es 10,261 -11,901

thereof continuing operations 10,261 -14,042

thereof discontinued operations 0 2,141

Cash-Flow from investing activities

- Capital expenditure -2,789 -3,371

- Aquuisition of interest in joint venture 0 -739

- Loan to parent company -10,000 0

- Cash received from divenstment of discontinued operation net of cash transferred 0 25,543

+ Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets 621 1,670

+ Cash received on disposal of joint venture interest 0 560

Cash used by / provided by investing activities -12,168 23,663

thereof continuing operations -12,168 30,711

thereof discontinued operations 0 -7,048

Cash-Flow from financing activities

+/- Borrowing / repayment payables of bank loans -1,703 -12,029

+/- Borrowing / repayment payables of finance lease -190 -59

Cash used by financing activities -1,893 -12,088

thereof continuing operations -1,893 -12,088

thereof discontinued operations 0 0

Net change in cash and cash equivalents -3,800 -326

+/- Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 359 -233

+ Cash at beginning of the year 11,184 11,743

Cash and cash equivalents at year end 7,743 11,184

Cash and cash equivalents from continuing operations 7,743 11,184

Cash and cash equivalents from discontinued operations 0 0

2012 2011
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

GENERAL 

DNick Holding plc is a public limited company under  English Law which is registered in London, United Kingdom 

(UK). The registered office of DNick Holding plc is  No 1 Poultry, London, EC2R 8JR, United Kingdom (UK ). The 

business place and administrative centre of the com pany is Rosenweg 15, 58239 Schwerte, Germany. 

The business is registered at Companies House in th e United Kingdom (UK) under number 5398216. It was 

registered on 18 March 2005. A branch in Germany ha s been registered at the local court of Hagen under  

number HRB 7769. It was registered on 3 December 20 07. 

Shares in DNick Holding plc have been traded on the  unofficial market on the Frankfurt stock exchange with 

the security identification number A0D9R7 up to 15 December 2012. 

The Annual General Meeting on 26 July 2012 approved  the cancellation of its listing on all German 

exchanges.  The Board of the company has decided ag ainst moving the listing to a more heavily regulate d 

stock exchange market segment following careful con sideration and evaluation of the relevant costs and  

benefits.   

After the stock exchanges in Berlin and Stuttgart h ave followed Frankfurt Stock Exchange on 15 Decembe r 

2012 and ceased trading of securities of DNick Hold ing plc, the securities are in the future only trad able off-

market. 

The parent company is Wickeder Westfalenstahl GmbH,  Wickede (Ruhr). 

The principal business activities of DNick Holding plc and its subsidiaries are the manufacture and sa le of metal 

products and other materials. 

The group’s activities are divided into the followi ng segments: 

·  I r o n - n i c k e l  

·  b a r s  a n d  w i r e s  

·  s t r i p s  

·  Holding company activi t ies /  Other 

The consolidated financial statements are presented  in euros. Unless otherwise indicated, all amounts are given 

in thousand euros (KEUR).  

The business year of DNick Holding plc and all comp anies included in the consolidated financial statem ents 

corresponds to the calendar year. 

GOING CONCERN 

The consolidated financial statements have been pre pared on a going concern basis. 

On 31 December 2012, two German subsidiaries had cr edit lines of EUR 3.0 million each  which are due t o 

expire on 15 September 2013. As of 31 December 2012 , these credit lines were not utilised due to the 

availability of working capital within the Group. 
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The directors have prepared forecasts which indicat e that the Group will be able to operate for the fo reseeable 

future with working capital being financed exclusiv ely from retained Group cash reserves and without t he need 

for these or similar credit lines. These cash reser ves include the cash reserves arising on disposal o f a subsidiary 

company during the year 2011, as disclosed in Note 26. 

The US subsidiary has a credit line with a term to 23 December 2013. In addition, bank loans exist wit hin the 

Group, however, these are to finance capital expend iture rather than to support ongoing working capita l 

requirements. 

 

The group's debt factoring facilities are due for r enewal in December 2013. The directors are currentl y in the 

process of renegotiating these facilities and expec t the relevant facilities to be in place prior to t he 

aforementioned renewal date. Should these facilitie s not be renewed, which would be contrary to expect ations, 

this may have some negative impact on business acti vities. 

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES 

The consolidated financial statements have been pre pared in accordance with applicable International F inancial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the Interna tional Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and adopte d by 

the EU. 

APPLICATION OF AMENDED AND NEW STANDARDS AND INTERP RETATIONS 

Compared to the consolidated financial statements a t 31 December 2011, the following standards and 

interpretations have been amended or applied for th e first time with mandatory effect by adoption in E U law or 

by the specific regulation coming into force with a  material impact on the group: 

Amendment to IFRS 7 “Financial instruments: Disclos ures” on transfer of financial assets 

(effective 1 July 2011) 

The amendments promote transparency in the reportin g of transfer transactions and improve users´ 

understanding of the risk exposures relating to tra nsfers of financial assets and the effect of those risks 

on an entity´s financial position, particularly tho se involving securitisation of financial assets. 

The first time implementation of the regulation has  had no material impact on the asset, financial and  

earnings position of the DNick group. 

NOT YET APPLICABLE STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERP RETATIONS 

New standards, amendments and interpretations relat ing to existing standards, which are published but whose 

implementation is not yet mandatory, were not appli ed to the 2012 consolidated financial statements. 

Amendment to IAS 1 “Financial statement presentatio n” regarding other comprehensive income 

(effective 1 July 2012) 

The main change resulting from these amendments is a requirement for entities to the group items 

presented in “other comprehensive income” (OCI) on the basis of whether they are potentially 

reclassifiable to profit or loss subsequently. 
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Amendment to IAS 19 “Employee benefits” (effective 1 January 2013) 

These amendments eliminate the corridor approach an d calculate finance costs on a net funding basis.  

Amendment to IFRS 1” First time adoption” on govern ment loans (effective  1 January 2013) 

This amendment addresses how a first-time adopter w ould account for a government loan with a below-mar ket rate 

of interest when transitioning to IFRS. It also add s an exception to the retrospective application of IFRS, which 

provides the same relief to first-time adopters gra nted to existing preparers of IFRS financial statem ents when the 

requirement was incorporated into IAS 20 in 2008.  

Amendment to IFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclos ures’, on asset and liability offsetting (effective  1 

January 2013) 

This amendment includes new disclosures to facilita te comparison between those entities that prepare I FRS 

financial statements to those that prepare financia l statements in accordance with US GAAP.  

Amendment to IFRSs 10, 11 and 12 on transition guid ance (effective 1 January 2013) 

These amendments provide additional transition reli ef to IFRSs 10, 11 and 12, limiting the requirement  to provide 

adjusted comparative information to only the preced ing comparative period. For disclosures related to 

unconsolidated structured entities, the amendments will remove the requirement to present comparative 

information for periods before IFRS 12 is first app lied.  

Annual improvements 2011 (effective 1 January 2013)  

These annual improvements adress six issues in the 2009 – 2011 reporting cycle. It includes changes to :  

 

. IFRS 1, First time adoption’ 

. IAS 1, Financial statement presentation’ 

. IAS 16, Property plant and equipment’ 

. IAS 32, Financial instruments; Presentation’ 

. IAS 34, Interim financial reporting’  

 

IFRS 10 “Consolidated financial statements“ (effect ive 1 January 2013) 

The objective of IFRS 10 is to establish principles  for the presentation and preparation of consolidat ed financial 

statements when an entity controls one or more othe r entity (an entity that controls one or more other  entities) to 

present consolidated financial statements. It defin es the principle of control, and establishes contro ls as the basis 

for consolidation. It sets out how to apply the pri nciple of control to identify whether an investor c ontrols an 

investee and therefore must consolidate the investe e. It also sets out the accounting requirements for  the 

preparation of consolidated financial statements. 

IFRS 11 „ Joint arrangements“ (effective 1 January 2013)  

IFRS 11 is a more realistic reflection of joint arr angements by focusing on the rights and obligations  of the parties 

to the arrangement rather than its legal form. Ther e are two types of joint arrangement: joint operati ons and joint 

ventures. Joint operations arise where a joint oper ator has rights to the assets and obligations relat ing to the 

arrangement and therefore accounts for its share of  assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. Joint v entures arise 

where the joint venturer has rights to the net asse ts of the arrangement and therefore equity accounts  for its 

interest. Proportional consolidation of joint ventu res is no longer allowed.  
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IFRS 12 “Disclosures of interests in other entities ” (effective 1 January 2013)  

IFRS 12 includes the disclosure requirements for al l forms of interests in other entities, including j oint 

arrangements, associates, special purpose vehicles and other off balance sheet vehicles.  

IFRS 13 „Fair value measurement“ (effective 1 Janua ry 2013) 

IFRS 13 aims to improve consistency and reduce comp lexity by providing a precise definition of fair va lue and a 

single source of fair value measurement and disclos ure requirements for use across IFRSs. The requirem ents, 

which are largely aligned between IFRS and US GAAP,  do not extend the use of fair value accounting but  provide 

guidance on how it should be applied where its use is already required or permitted by other standards  within 

IFRSs or US GAAP.  

IAS 27 (revised 2011) “Separate financial statement s” (effective 1 January 2013) 

IAS 27 (revised 2011) includes the requirements rel ating to separate financial statements.  

IAS 28 (revised 2011) “Associates and joint venture s” (effective 1 January 2013)  

IAS 28 (revised 2011) includes the requirements for  associates and joint ventures that have to be equi ty accounted 

following the issue of IFRS 11.  

Amendment to IAS 32 “Financial instruments: Present ation”, on asset and liability offsetting (effectiv e 1 

January 2014)  

These amendments are to the application guidance in  IAS 32, Financial instruments: Presentation’, and clarify 

some of the requirements for offsetting financial a ssets and financial liabilities on the balance shee t.  

IFRS 9 “Financial instruments” (effective 1 January  2015)  

IFRS 9 is the first standard issued as part of a wi der project to replace IAS 39. IFRS 9 retains but s implifies the 

mixed measurement model and establishes two primary  measurement categories for financial assets: amort ised 

cost and fair value. The basis of classification depends on the entity’s bus iness model and the contractual cash 

flow characteristics of the financial asset. The gu idance in IAS 39 on impairment of financial assets and hedge 

accounting continues to apply. 

The company is ready to adopt the new  regulations for the first time in the accounting p rinciples for the business 

years commencing after the respective date on which  they become effective. It is assumed that other ne w 

standards, amendments and interpretations will not have any material impact on the consolidated 

financial statements of the DNick group. 

The layout of the balance sheet by maturity corresp onds to that specified in IAS 1. Assets and liabili ties are 

considered to be short-term if they are to be reali sed or settled within one year after the reporting date. 

Accordingly assets and liabilities are classed as l ong-term if they remain in the group for longer tha n one year. 

Trade accounts receivable and payable as well as in ventories are reported as short-term items. Deferre d tax 

claims and liabilities on the other hand are shown as long-term in accordance with IAS 1. 
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SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The consolidated financial statements include DNick  Holding plc as well as all domestic and foreign co mpanies 

controlled by it. As a rule, control is deemed to e xist if DNick Holding plc owns indirectly or direct ly a majority of 

the voting rights of the subscribed capital of a co mpany and / or can determine the financial and busi ness policy 

of this company. The parent company has a 100 % hol ding in each subsidiary. 

The following companies apart from DNick Holding pl c are included in the consolidated financial statem ents: 

�� Deutsche Nickel GmbH, Schwerte / Germany 

�� Deutsche Nickel Asia (Shanghai) Trading Co., Ltd, S hanghai, China 
�� Deutsche Nickel America Inc., Cumberland, RI/ USA 

�� Auerhammer Metallwerk GmbH, Aue / Germany 

�� DN Real Estate GmbH, Schwerte / Germany 

�� DN Service GmbH, Schwerte / Germany 

The former 100% subsidiary undertaking, Saxonia Eur oCoin GmbH, Halsbr ��cke, Germany, and its joint venture 

interest Compania Europea de Cospeles S.A., Madrid,  Spain were sold 2011. Further details are provided  in 

Note 7.3 to the group financial statements. 

The former 33% group's joint venture interest Innov ative Clad Solutions Private Limited, New Delhi, In dia, was 

sold 2011. Further details are provided in Note 7.3  to the group financial statements. 

The group structure of the fully consolidated compa nies is as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

Deutsche

Nickel

GmbH

100 %

Deutsche

Nickel

America Inc.

100 %

Auerhammer

Metallwerk

GmbH

100 %

DN Real

Estate GmbH

100 %

DN Service

GmbH

100 %

DNick Holding plc

Deutsche Nickel

Asia (Shanghai)

Trading Co., Ltd.

100 %
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CONSOLIDATION PRINCIPLES 

The consolidated financial statements include DNick  Holding plc as well as all domestic and foreign co mpanies 

controlled by it. As a rule, control is deemed to e xist if DNick Holding plc owns indirectly or direct ly more than 

50 % of the voting rights of the subscribed capital  of a company and as a result can determine the fin ancial and 

business policy of this company to its economic adv antage. The company is included in the consolidatio n from 

the date on which control is considered to exist an d is excluded from the date on which control ceases  to exist. 

The subsidiaries acquired in the 2005 business year  through the restructuring of the former Deutsche N ickel AG 

(subsequently DNick Ltd (CVA)) were included in the  consolidated financial statements using merger acc ounting 

principles. Each of the subsidiaries was acquired a s part of the reconstruction of the former Deutsche  Nickel AG 

group. The aim of this reconstruction was to enable  the former Deutsche Nickel AG and its subsidiaries  to 

continue their operations as going concerns, rather  than be purchased by an unrelated third party. Giv en this 

background, merger accounting is the appropriate ba sis to present the financial and earnings situation  of the 

group. As the subsidiaries were incorporated, these  transactions do not fall within the scope of appli cation of 

mergers regulated in IFRS 3. 

Under merger accounting principles, no adjustment i s made to fair values of the assets and liabilities  of the 

included subsidiaries, and the results are included  throughout the year with no elimination of the pre -

acquisition period. 

Capital consolidation is implemented by offsetting the investment book values against the equity of th e 

subsidiaries at the time of the initial consolidati on, the difference being offset against the merger reserves. 

Changes to the investment book values and/or equity  of the subsidiaries are eliminated accordingly in 

subsequent consolidation. 

In the case of a divestment, the respective assets and liabilities of the sold subsidiary, including a ny related 

goodwill or difference from the initial consolidati on, will be compared with the proceeds received. An y difference 

is reported in the income statement. 

The acquisition costs of joint ventures, consolidat ed using equity accounting, are increased or decrea sed 

annually according to changes in the equity of the investee of the DNick group. The principles applyin g to full 

consolidation are applied to the allocation and adj ustment of any differences in the investment stated  between 

the acquisition costs of the investment and the pro portionate equity of the company under the equity m ethod. 

There is no market price for the investments valued  using equity accounting. 

The assets, liabilities and deferred items as well as income and expenses contained in the correspondi ng 

individual financial statements are included in the  consolidated financial statements. 

Intra-group receivables and payables are set off ag ainst each other and eliminated. Intra-group sales,  profits and 

losses as well as all other income and expenses are  eliminated on consolidation. 

Intra-group profits on inventories transferred with in the group that relate to deliveries between grou p companies 

are eliminated on consolidation.  

Intra-group profits on the transfer of property, pl ant and equipment within the group that relate to d eliveries made 

and services provided between group companies are a lso eliminated on consolidation. 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared applying uniform accounting and valuation principle s. 
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CURRENCY CONVERSION 

The group’s foreign subsidiaries included in the ba sis of consolidation are independent from a financi al, 

economic and organisational standpoint. Their funct ional currency is the currency of the country in wh ich they 

are located. The balance sheets of the foreign subs idiaries are converted using the exchange rate prev ailing at 

the year-end, profit and loss items are translated using the average exchange rate for the year. The r esulting 

exchange differences are recognised directly in acc umulated currency differences within equity and inc luded in 

the presentation of other comprehensive income. In the event that a foreign subsidiary is sold, the ac cumulated 

amount of currency differences is recognised as inc ome or expense in the same period in which the prof it or loss 

is realised. 

Transactions denominated in foreign currency are tr anslated using the exchange rate applicable on the date the 

transaction is entered into. Any exchange differenc es are recognised in profit or loss. 

For the purposes of converting foreign currency tra nsaction amounts during the year into euros, the ap plicable 

transaction rate is used. At the year end, monetary  assets and liabilities with foreign currency balan ces are 

converted using the market rate on the reporting da te and the currency differences are recorded within  net 

income. 

The exchange rates against the euro affecting the g roup accounts have changed as follows: 

Exchange Rates  Middle Price in EUR 
on the balance sheet date 

Middle Price in EUR 
as annual average 

  31.12.2012 31.12.2011 2012 2011 

USA 1 USD 0,75844 0.77120 0,77351 0.71876 
Great Britain 1 GBP - 1.19908 - 1.15520 

China 1 RMB 0,12164 0.12133 0,12277 0.11105 

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY AND MANAGEMENT JUDGEMENT 

When preparing the financial statements, management  undertakes a number of estimates and assumptions 

about recognition and measurement of assets, liabil ities, income and expenses. 

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other fa ctors, 

including expectations of future events that are be lieved to be reasonable under the circumstances. Ma ny of the 

amounts included in the financial statements involv e the use of judgement and/or estimation. These jud gements 

and estimates are based on management's best knowle dge of the relevant facts and circumstances, having  

regard to prior experience, but actual results may differ from the amounts included in the financial s tatements. 

Information about significant judgements, estimates and  assumptions that have a significant effect on 

recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities,  income and expenses are discussed below. 

Useful lives of depreciable assets: 

Management reviews the expected useful lives of dep reciable assets at each reporting date. .On 31 Dece mber 

2012, the expected useful lives represent the expec ted utility of the assets by the group. The carryin g values are 

analysed in note 7. Actual results, however, may va ry due to technical obsolescence. 

Inventories: 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and n et realisable value. In estimating net realisable v alues, 

management takes into account the most reliable evi dence available at the times the estimates are made . 
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Defined benefit pension liability: 

Management estimates the defined benefit pension li ability annually with the assistance of independent  

actuaries; however, the actual outcome may vary due  to estimation uncertainties. The estimate of the d efined 

benefit pension liability is based on standard rate s of inflation and mortality. It also takes into ac count the 

group's specific anticipation of future salary incr eases. Discount factors are redetermined each year by reference 

to high quality corporate bonds that are denominate d in the currency in which the benefits will be pai d and that 

have terms to maturity approximating to the terms o f the related pension liability. 

Deferred tax assets: 

Material estimates and assumptions are further made  in relation to the recognition and measurement of 

deferred taxes on tax losses carried forward. Asses sment of the likelihood of utilising tax losses car ried forward 

through future tax profits is based on the latest c orporate planning, whereby adjustments are made bot h for tax-

free income and non-deductible operating expenses a nd for restrictions for set-offs. 

Warranty provision: 

The group makes provision for the level of anticipa ted product returns by customers. This provision is  based on 

past experience, sales volumes and the period of ti me during which customers are entitled to make such  claims 

subsequent to the balance sheet date. 

Outcome of legal dispute: 

Further estimation is required with respect to a po tential legal dispute which relates to a claim made  in October 

2010 against a group subsidiary for repayment of in vestment grants amounting to EUR 3.0 million, inclu ding 

accrued interest. The grants in question were provi ded to Deutsche Nickel AG in 1999 – this company ch anged its 

legal structure in 2005 and relocated its registere d office to Great Britain. Insolvency proceedings w ere then 

instituted against its assets. The grant provider i s of the opinion that the group subsidiary company is liable for 

repayment of the government grants as it provided a  cross-guarantee at that time. 

On 31 December 2010, the directors assessed the lik elihood of repayment of the grant as being remote a nd, as 

such, no amount was provided for repayment. Based o n developments in this case in 2011, the directors have re-

assessed the likelihood of a liability arising unde r this grant claim and recognised a provision accor dingly. This 

provision represents the directors’ best estimate o f the amount to be settled in respect of this claim  also as of 

31 December 2012, although the amount ultimately pa id may be different to this amount. The directors h ave 

not disclosed the provision in respect of this spec ific claim on the basis that legal proceedings are ongoing. 
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ACCOUNTING AND VALUATION METHODS  

The individual financial statements included in the  consolidated financial statements have been prepar ed in 

accordance with the IFRS/IAS international accounti ng standards and the interpretations issued by the 

International Financial Reporting Interpretations C ommittee (IFRIC) as adopted by the European Union. The 

accounting and valuation principles as prescribed b y IFRS were implemented as set out in IFRS 1 as if IFRS/IAS 

standards had always been applied, i.e. retrospecti vely, unless otherwise stated. The adjustments requ ired to be 

made on the first-time adoption of the IFRS/IAS acc ounting and valuation principles were recognised in  equity 

through retained earnings. 

The amounts stated in the consolidated financial st atement are determined solely by the economic subst ance of 

the asset, financial and earnings position in the c ontext of the requirements of the IASB and unaffect ed by tax 

regulations. 

The balance sheet format is on the basis of maturit y, in accordance with IAS 1. 

FINANCIAL ASSETS 

Financial assets other than hedging instruments are  divided into the following categories: 

�� loans and receivables; 

�� financial assets at fair value through profit or lo ss; 

�� available-for-sale financial assets; 

�� held-to-maturity investments. 

Financial assets are assigned to the different cate gories on initial recognition, depending on the cha racteristics of 

the instrument and its purpose. A financial instrum ent's category is relevant for the way it is measur ed and 

whether any resulting income and expenses are recog nised in profit or loss or directly in equity. See note 1 for a 

summary of the group's financial assets by category . 

Generally, the group recognises all financial asset s using settlement date accounting. An assessment o f whether a 

financial asset is impaired is made at the latest a t each reporting date. All income and expenses rela ting to 

financial assets are recognised in the income state ment line item “Other operating income” or “Other o perating 

expenses” respectively, other than interest income and expenses, which is recognised under “Interest a nd similar 

income” and “Interest and similar expenses” respect ively. 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are  not 

quoted in an active market. After initial recogniti on, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective 

interest method, less provision for impairment. Any  change in their fair value is recognised in profit  or loss. The 

group's trade and most other receivables fall into this category of financial instruments. Discounting , however, is 

omitted where the effect of discounting is immateri al. 

Significant receivables are considered for impairme nt on a case-by-case basis when they are past due a t the 

balance sheet date or when objective evidence is re ceived that a specific counterparty is in default. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or lo ss include financial assets that are either classif ied as held for 

trading or are designated by the entity to be carri ed at fair value through profit or loss upon initia l recognition. 

By definition, all derivative financial instruments  that do not qualify for hedge accounting fall into  this category. 

The group has no type of financial instruments whic h currently fall within this category.  
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Any gain or loss arising from derivative financial instruments is based on changes in fair value, whic h is 

determined by direct reference to active market tra nsactions or using a corresponding valuation techni que 

where no active market exists. 

CURRENT ASSETS 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash includes cash on hand and balances at banks. 

Cash equivalents are short-term highly liquid asset s, which can be quickly converted into cash and hav e an 

original maturity of up to 3 months and are not sub ject to any substantial fluctuations in value. Thes e include 

cash deposits amounting to 10 % on the receivables sold and assigned to factoring companies, which are  

released as available cash at banks following payme nt of the original receivable by the customer. 

RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS 

Receivables and other assets are recognised at thei r recoverable value. Receivables and other assets i n foreign 

currencies are converted at the exchange rate on th e balance sheet date. 

All receivables and other assets are reviewed annua lly for impairment at the balance sheet date. 

INVENTORIES 

Inventories include, in accordance with IAS 2, thos e assets which are held for sale in the normal cour se of 

business (finished goods and goods for resale), tho se which are in production for sale (work in progre ss) or 

those which are used in the course of production or  the provision of services (raw materials and suppl ies). 

Inventories are valued at the lower of the acquisit ion or production costs identified using the averag e cost 

method and their net value on realisation i.e. the sales revenue achievable in the normal course of bu siness less 

the estimated finishing and sales costs. 

The production costs of work in progress and finish ed goods include all costs that are directly attrib utable to the 

production process plus a proportionate amount of p roduction-related overheads. Financing costs are no t 

included. The allocated fixed and variable overhead s are based on detailed cost calculations prepared as part of 

the current cost accounting statements. General adm inistration costs are not included. Write-down to t he net 

value on realisation is carried out as necessary. 

Commodities are recognised at the lower of acquisit ion cost or their fair value. 

PREPAID EXPENSES 

Prepaid expenses include payments made for expenses  relating to future periods, they have a term of up  to one 
year. 
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NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Intangible assets acquired for consideration are me asured at acquisition and production cost in accord ance with 

IAS 38 and are amortised systematically on a straig ht-line basis over their useful lives. Software is amortised 

over a period of between 3 and 5 years. 

Expected permanent loss of value is accounted for b y recording an impairment charge, which is included  within 

operating results. Where events indicate or there i s evidence of a reduction in value, a recoverabilit y test is 

carried out to compare the book value of an asset w ith the recoverable amount. 

If the basis of an impairment loss recognised in pr evious years no longer applies, appropriate revalua tion is 

recorded as other income. 

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Property, plant and equipment, excluding land and b uildings, are recognised in accordance with IAS 16 at 

acquisition and production cost and are depreciated  on a systematic basis over their useful lives. 

The original acquisition and production costs inclu de the purchase price as well as any directly attri butable 

ancillary purchase costs and any costs attributable  to bringing the asset to the condition necessary f or it to be 

capable of being operated. A proportion of overhead  and interest costs are included in the production costs 

of selfconstructed assets in addition to the direct  costs. 

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their estimated useful lives. To the extent permitt ed, 

movable assets are depreciated under the reducing b alance method. The depreciation period and method a re 

reviewed annually at the end of the financial year.  The remaining property, plant and equipment are de preciated 

on a straight-line basis. 

The depreciation periods in years are as follows: 

Property, plant and equipment years 

Buildings 10 – 25 
Plant and machinery 2 – 25 
Furniture and office equipment 1 – 20 

Buildings are carried at their cost less any accumu lated depreciation. Freehold land is not subject to  

depreciation. 

Expected permanent loss of value which exceeds norm al wear and tear is accounted for by recording an 

impairment charge, which is included within operati ng results. Where events indicate, or there is evid ence of a 

reduction in value, a recoverability test is carrie d out to compare the book value of an asset with th e recoverable 

amount. Material residual value estimates are updat ed as required, but at least annually. 

If the basis of an impairment loss recognised in pr evious years no longer applies, appropriate revalua tion is 

recorded as other income. 

Leased property, plant and equipment, which are reg arded economically as asset purchases with long-ter m 

financing, i.e. finance leases, are reported in the  balance sheet at the time of acquisition at fair v alue in 

accordance with IAS 17. Depreciation is recognised over the economic life. 
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INVESTMENTS 

Investments in joint ventures are accounted for usi ng the equity method in accordance with IAS 31, whe reby the 

acquisition cost is adjusted annually for post-acqu isition changes in the proportionate share of equit y of joint 

ventures, including profits and losses. As investme nts in joint ventures were sold during 2011; there are no such 

investments at the balance sheet date. 

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS / CASH FLOW HEDGE ACC OUNTING 

A specific accounting treatment is required for der ivatives that are designated as hedging instruments  for cash 

flow hedge relationships. To qualify for hedge acco unting, the hedging relationship must meet several strict 

conditions with respect to documentation, probabili ty of occurrence, hedge effectiveness and reliabili ty of 

measurement. All other derivative financial instrum ents are recognised at fair value in profit or loss . 

As of 31 December 2012, the group has designated al l forward currency contracts and metal price forwar ds as 

hedging instruments in cash flow hedge relationship s as in the previous year. These arrangements have been 

entered into to mitigate the fluctuations in future  currency and metal prices respectively. This resul ts in 

recognition of financial assets and liabilities whi ch are presented on the balance sheet as "Derivativ es" within 

current assets and current liabilities respectively . 

To the extent that the hedge is effective, changes in the fair value of derivatives designated as hedg ing 

instruments in cash flow hedges are reported in equ ity and "recycled" when the hedging relationship ce ases - 

normally, when the hedged transaction occurs. At th e time the hedged item affects profit or loss, any gain or loss 

previously recognised in equity is released to the income statement. However, if a non-financial instr ument is 

recognised as a result of the hedged transaction, t he gains and losses previously recognised in equity  are 

included in the initial measurement of the hedged i tem. If a forecast transaction is no longer expecte d to occur or 

if the hedging instrument becomes ineffective, any related gain or loss recognised in equity is immedi ately 

transferred to the income statement. According to a mendments to the IAS 1 regulations, changes in the fair 

value of derivative financial instruments that do n ot impact profit and loss and any deferred taxes th ereon are 

reported as part of other comprehensive income. 
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DEFERRED TAXES 

Deferred taxes are determined under the balance she et liability method in accordance with IAS 12 and r eflect 

the tax effect of temporary differences between the  carrying amount of assets and liabilities recognis ed in the 

consolidated financial statements and in the separa te tax balance sheets. Deferred tax assets and liab ilities are 

determined using the expected tax rates applicable for the accounting periods in which these differenc es in 

assets and liabilities are expected to reverse. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised where a tax bene fit is expected to arise from future carry forward of tax losses 

and for temporary differences between the tax balan ce sheet and the consolidated balance sheet. No imp airment 

of deferred taxes on temporary differences has been  made. A deferred tax asset is not recognised where  tax 

losses are not expected to be utilised in future pe riods. 

Any tax consequences arising on profit distribution s are first accounted for on the date the resolutio n regarding 

the appropriation of profits is passed. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not offset.  

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

The group's financial liabilities include borrowing s, trade and other payables (including liabilities from financial 

leasing) which are measured at fair value plus tran saction costs, with subsequent measurement at amort isation 

cost. A summary of the group's financial liabilitie s by category is given in note 1. 

Financial liabilities are recognised when the group  becomes a party to the contractual agreements in t he 

instrument. All interest and interest-related charg es are included in the income statement under the i tem “Interest 

and similar expenses”. 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 

CURRENT FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

Current financial liabilities include liabilities t o banks, current leasing liabilities, deposits rece ived, trade 

accounts payable, liabilities to affiliated compani es, derivative financial instruments with negative fair values and 

other financial liabilities. 

Current financial liabilities are recognised at the  time they come into effect on principle after dedu ction of debt 

issuance cost at fair value less transaction costs.  Liabilities which are not subject to interest at t he market 

interest rate are initially measured at fair value and thereafter at amortised cost using the effectiv e interest rate 

method. 

Liabilities from finance leases are shown at the fa ir value of the leased item or the cash value of th e minimum 

lease payment, where this is lower, at the time the  contract is agreed. The finance lease liability is  reduced by 

lease payments less the finance charges included th erein, which are expensed as part of finance costs.  The 

interest element of leasing payments represents a c onstant portion of the capital balance outstanding and is 

charged to profit and loss over the period of the l ease. 
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PROVISION FOR TAXES ON INCOME 

Taxes on income paid or owing by companies under ap plicable local tax legislation are disclosed under provision 

for taxes on income. 

Tax provisions include the amounts owing for curren t income taxes and any additional tax assessments 

resulting from tax audits. 

The income tax charge is calculated on the basis of  the reported results for the period taking into ac count any 

tax losses carried forward. 

OTHER CURRENT PROVISIONS 

Under IAS 37 a provision is only recognised if the company has a present obligation, it is probable th at an 

outflow of resources will be required to settle the  obligation, and that the amount can be determined reliably. 

Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted in line with the current best estimate . If the 

adjusted estimate results in a reduction in the siz e of the obligation, the provision is remeasured ac cordingly 

and the income is recorded as other operating incom e. 

No discounting to cash value is made to current pro visions. 

Amounts owed for deliveries and services that have already been made or provided in full and therefore  have a 

substantially higher degree of certainty, with rega rd to the amount and the timing of the settlement o f the 

obligation, so-called outstanding purchase invoices , are presented under trade payables. 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  

NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

In the case of non-current financial liabilities to  credit institutions, any discount deducted on paym ent is 

accounted for and recognised across the loan period  on a straight-line basis. The remaining amount of the 

discount which is to be recognised across the remai ning period of the loan in future is deducted from the loan 

liability carried as a liability on the balance she et. 

PROVISIONS FOR PENSIONS AND SIMILAR OBLIGATIONS 

The actuarial valuation of the pension liabilities is performed in accordance with the rules set out i n IAS 19 for 

pension benefits (projected unit credit method), wh ereby expected future increases in salaries and pen sions are 

also taken into account in addition to the known pe nsions and entitlements at the balance sheet date. 

Actuarial gains and actuarial losses are recognised  within social security and other pension costs thr ough the 

income statement. 

OTHER NON-CURRENT PROVISIONS 

Provisions for anniversary benefits,obligations und er partial retirement agreements and public obligat ions are 

included here. They represent long-term benefits an d are stated at their discounted value using a disc ount rate of 

3,5 % p.a. at the balance sheet date. 
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CASH SETTLED AWARD SCHEMES  

Cash-settled share-based payments have been measure d at fair value at each balance sheet date and reco gnised as 

an expense within profit and loss for the year, with a corr esponding increase in liabilities. The expense has 

been recognised over the period from the date of gran t to the date on which the award participants are 

unconditionally entitled to payment and forecast to  take up their entitlement. Fair value has been mea sured by use 

of a modified BlackScholes model and changes in fai r value have been recognised within profit and loss . 

The latest cash-settled share-based payments scheme  was settled in 2011. The scheme is described in mo re detail 

in Note 33. 

EQUITY CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

During the group restructuring process in 2005, cer tain subsidiaries were transferred to DNick Holding  plc via 

capital contribution. Where these subsidiaries were  subsequently disposed of, the respective component  of the 

capital reserves was realised and a corresponding t ransfer made to the profit and loss reserves. The c apital 

reserves therefore include the respective current s tatus of the values of contributions of the compani es belonging 

to the DNick group. 

Differences between the carrying amounts of shares in affiliated companies to be eliminated and the re lated 

carrying amounts of equity capital of the companies  at the time of initial consolidation, resulting fr om capital 

consolidation, are reported in equity under the mer ger reserve. Where companies are subsequently dispo sed of, 

these respective differences are eliminated again i n the course of deconsolidation and a corresponding  transfer 

is made to the profit and loss reserves. The merger  reserve therefore includes the respective current status of 

the differences from the consolidation of the capit al of the companies belonging to DNick group. 

The revaluation reserve results from the fair value s of forward currency contracts and metal price for wards 

designated for cash flow hedge accounting, net of t ax.  

Exchange differences arising on the conversion of f oreign currency financial statements included in th e 

consolidated financial statements are reported unde r the foreign exchange line item in equity as part of other 

comprehensive income.  

LEASING ARRANGEMENTS 

Under IAS 17, a lease is classified as a finance le ase if it transfers substantially the entire risks and rewards 

incidental to ownership to the lessee. Classificati on depends on the economic substance of the individ ual lease 

agreement. 

At the inception of a finance lease, the assets and  liabilities under the lease are recognised in the balance sheet. 

The initial values correspond to the fair value of the leased item or the present value of the minimum  lease 

payment, if this is lower. Lease payments are appor tioned using the interest rate implicit in the leas e between 

the finance charge, which is recognised in profit or loss , and the reduction of the outstanding liability. 

Furthermore the capitalised assets are subject to a nnual depreciation charges. 

A lease is classified as an operating lease if subs tantially all the risks and rewards relating to the  asset remain 

with the lessor. Lease payments under operating lea ses are recognised as expense over the lease term o n a 

straight-line basis. 
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GRANTS FROM THE PUBLIC SECTOR 

Public sector grants are only recognised in profit or loss if there is sufficient certainty that the c ompany has met 

the associated terms and conditions and the company  has actually received the funds. 

The company has received investment grants and stat utory investment allowances. As a rule they are sub ject to 

conditions under which the subsidised assets are to  be held as operating assets and used for operating  activities 

throughout the entire grant period, which is betwee n three and five years. 

The grants received are recorded under deferred inc ome and are credited annually to other operating in come 

on a straight-line basis over the grant period. 

REVENUE RECOGNITION 

A sale is recorded if it is probable that the relev ant transaction will result in an inflow of economi c benefits to the 

company and the amount can be determined reliably. This is normally the case if a delivery has been ma de or a 

service provided and the significant risks and rewa rds of ownership have been transferred to the purch aser. 

Reported under the line item sales, in the income s tatement, are sales generated on the sale of finish ed goods 

and merchandise as well as any related ancillary ser vices and services provided by the group, net of an y 

applicable value added taxes and less any discounts , rebates and bonuses as well as credit notes issue d in 

respect of customer returns. 

Operating costs associated with income arising on p erformance of services or as accrued are recognised  as the 

services are performed. Interest income and expense s are reported as accrued. 

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 

Disposal groups are classified as assets and liabiliti es held for sale when their carrying amount is to be 

recovered principally through a sale transaction an d a sale is considered highly probable. 

In the balance sheet, the assets and liabilities of  the disposal group are aggregated within a single line item in 

current assets and current liabilities respectively . In the income statement, the net result of the di sposal 

group is shown as a single line item under the head ing "Net profit for the year from discontinued oper ations." 

Where a component of the business is classified as discontinued during the reporting period, eliminati on of 

intra-group transactions between discontinued and c ontinuing operations is determined depending on whe ther 

the group expects to continue to transact with the discontinued operations subsequent to its disposal.  Where 

the group expects to continue to transact with the discontinued operations subsequent to its sale, int ra-group 

transactions are eliminated within the results of t he discontinued operations. Where transactions are not 

expected to continue subsequent to the sale of the discontinued operations, transactions are eliminate d in the 

results of continuing operations. 

The group sold the previously recognised disposal g roup in April 2011 – further details are provided i n Note 26. 

The profit on sale of this disposal group is shown in the Income statement under the heading "Net prof it for the 

year from discontinued operations." 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
1.   FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AND ASSOCIATED IN COME AND EXPENSE 

Financial assets included in the balance sheet rela te to the following IAS 39 categories: 

 31.12.2012 
KEUR 

31.12.2011 
KEUR 

Derivatives designated as cash flow hedging instrum ents   
(carried at fair value) 712 260  
Loans and receivables 34,579 25,546  

Total 35,291 25,806   

Financial assets included in the balance sheet are classified within the following headings: 

 
31.12.2012 

KEUR 

31.12.2011 
KEUR 

Current assets   
Cash and cash equivalents 7,743 11, 184  

Trade receivables 10,630 13,669  

Receivables from associates 5,712 0  

Derivatives 712 260  

Other assets 468 668  

 25,265 25,781  
Non-current assets   
Other loans 10,000 0  
Other assets 26 25  

 10,026 25  

Total 35,291 25,806   

Financial liabilities included in the balance sheet  relate to the following IAS 39 categories: 

 
31.12.2012 

KEUR 
31.12.2011 

KEUR 

Derivatives designated as cash flow hedging instrum ents   
(carried at fair value) 322 3,163 
Financial liabilities measured at amortised costs 1 7,928 19,399 

Total 18,250 22,562 
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Financial liabilities included in the balance sheet  are classified within the following headings: 

 
31.12.2012 

KEUR 
31.12.2011 

KEUR 

Current liabilities 

Current liabilities to banks 5,887 6,855  

Trade payables 6,939 6,689  

Liabilities to affiliates 1 0  

Other provisions 3,077 3,138  

Derivatives 322 3,163  
Other current liabilities 1,124 1,082  

 17,350 20,927  

Non-current liabilities   
Long-term loans 900 0  
Non-current liabilities to banks 0 1,635  

 900 1,635  

Total 18,250 22,562   

The book values of the financial assets and financi al liabilities approximate to the fair value. 

The DNick group adopted the amendments to IFRS 7 pr escribing disclosures about financial instruments 

effective from 1 January 2009. These amendments req uire presentation of certain information about fina ncial 

instruments measured at fair value in the balance s heet. The fair value hierarchy has the following le vels: 

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active marke ts for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included w ithin level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either as prices or derived from prices; and 

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are  not based on observable market data (unobservable basis) 

All derivatives entered in the balance sheet by the  group are included in level 2 and consist of forei gn currency 

and metal contracts. 

For the 2012 business year, total interest income a mounted to KEUR 245 (previous year: KEUR 216), of w hich 

KEUR 177 (previous year: KEUR 216) was generated on  bank balances. In previous year total interest inc ome 

includes KEUR 6 which is included within “net profi t for the year from discontinued operations” – see Note 26. 

In the 2012 business year, total interest expenses was KEUR 733 (previous year: KEUR 1,443), KEUR 19 

(previous year: KEUR 32) thereof are interest relat ing to finance leasing liabilities and the remainin g amount 

resulting from credit facilities. Both are classifi ed as financial liabilities at net book values as a  category of 

financial liabilities. In previous year total inter est expenses includes KEUR 28 which is included wit hin “net profit 

for the year from discontinued operations” – see No te 26.  

Financial income and financial expense from continu ing operations are summarized by category as follow s: 

 31.12.2012 31.12.2011 
TEUR TEUR 

 
Loans and receivables (income) 245 210  

Financial instruments measured at amortised cost -7 33 -1,415  

Total -488 -1,205  
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2.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 31.12.2012 31.12.2011 
 KEUR KEUR 

 
Cash in bank accounts 6,410 9,851  

Cash at factoring banks 1,330 1,331  
Cash in hand 3 2  

Total 7,743 11,184   

The factoring banks acquired receivables with a tot al value of KEUR 8,320 (previous year: KEUR 7,723),  all 

relates to continuing operations at the balance she et date. Of this, funds of KEUR 1,330 (previous yea r: KEUR 

1,331) were available at the balance sheet date. Th is contains the contractually agreed security depos it 

amounting to 10 % of the volume of receivables sold , corresponding to KEUR 832 (previous year: KEUR 77 2), 

which will become free in the short-term following payment of invoices by customers. 

3.  TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 

Trade accounts receivable are shown on the balance sheet as KEUR 10,630 (previous year: KEUR 13,669). This 

includes allowances for doubtful accounts amounting  to KEUR 171 (previous year: KEUR 197). 

The receivables quoted on the balance sheet amounti ng to KEUR 10,630 (previous year: KEUR 13,669) are 

receivables of the group against customers over and  above the receivables acquired by the factoring ba nks. The 

volume of receivables sold at the balance sheet dat e is KEUR 8,320 (previous year: KEUR 7,723).  

Some of the unimpaired trade receivables are past d ue at the reporting date. The age of the trade rece ivables 

past due but not impaired is as follows: 

 31.12.2012 31.12.2011 
 KEUR KEUR 

 
Not more than 3 months 1,638 4,035  

More than 3 months but not more than 6 months33  130 33  

More than 6 months but not more than 1 year 0 0  

Total 1,768 4,068  
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4.  DERIVATIVES 

Derivative financial instruments include the follow ing positive and negative market values from the he dging of 

metal price risks and from the hedging of currency exchange rate risks on receivables and order volume s: 

Positive market values 
31.12.2012 

KEUR 
31.12.2011  

KEUR 

- from metal hedging transactions - cash flow hedge  251 81  
- from forward exchange contracts -cash flow hedge 461 179  

Total 712 260  

 31.12.2012 31.12.2011  

Negative market values KEUR KEUR  

- from metal hedging transactions - cash flow hedge  73 313  
- from forward exchange contracts -cash flow hedge 249 2,850  

Total 322 3,163   

All derivatives are due within one year. As of 31 D ecember 2012, a gain of KEUR 390 (previous year: lo ss KEUR 

3,595) was recorded within equity in relation to th ese instruments. 

5.  OTHER ASSETS  

Other current assets are categorised as follows: 

 3 1.12.2012 
KEUR 

31.12.2011  
KEUR 

Tax refunds 1.538 1,019  

Investment grant claims 0 133  
Deposits 139 141  

Other 329 394  

Total 2.006 1,687   

Claims arising from tax refunds were mainly the res ult of value added tax refunds for the month of Dec ember 

2012 respectively 2011, and from withholding taxes taken into account for 2012 and 2011. 

Other non-current assets at the 2012 balance sheet date result from reinsurance claims for pension obl igations 

(KEUR 26) and tax refunds (KEUR 15). In prior year,  other non-current assets related principally to re insurance 

claims for pension obligations and tax refunds. 
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6 . INVENTORIES 

Inventories are categorised as follows: 

31.12.2011 

Gross carrying 
KEUR 

Impairment 
KEUR 

Net carrying 
KEUR 

Raw materials and supplies 8,330 0 8,330 
Work in progress 35,925 0 35,925 

Finished goods and goods for resale 18,676 486 18,1 90 
Prepaid inventories 76 0 76 

Total 63,007 486 62,521   

 

31.12.2012 

   

 Gross carrying Impairment Net carrying 

 KEUR KEUR KEUR 

Raw materials and supplies 10,731 0 10,731 
Work in progress 28,036 0 28,036 
Finished goods and goods for resale 16,422 364 16,0 58 

Total 55,189 364 54,825 

 
Impairments of KEUR 364 (previous year: KEUR 486 ) were recorded in the inventories in the business 

year in order to report the corresponding assets at  the lower net-realisable value. Inventories of KEU R 

40,776 (previous year: KEUR 62,445) were assigned a s security for bank debts to finance working capita l 

within asset-based borrowing lines. 
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7.  NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

The development of the individual items of the non- current assets is shown below. 

7.1 INTANGIBLE ASSETS  

KEUR 

Concessions, 
property 
rights, 

licences, etc. 

Advance 
payments 

  Total 

Acquisition costs   

Position at 01.01. 2011 728 200 928 

Additions 399  106  505  

Disposals -152 -200 -352 

Transfers 106 -106   0 

Position at 31.12.2011 1,081 0 1,081 

  

Amortisation   

Position at 01.01.2011 459  0 459  

Additions 179 0 179 

Disposals -1 0   -1 

Position at 31.12.2011 637 0 637 

  

Book values as at 01.01.2011 269 200   469 

Book values as at  31.12.2011 444 0 444  

KEUR 

Concessions, 
property 
rights, 

licences, etc. 

Advance 
payments 

  Total 

Acquisition costs   

Position at 01.01. 2012 1,081 0 1,081 

Additions 72 82 154 

     

     

Position at 31.12.2012 1,153 82 1,235 

  

Amortisation   

Position at 01.01.2012 637 0 637 

Additions 207 0 207 

     

Position at 31.12.2012 844 0 844 

  

Book values as at 01.01.2012 444 0   444 

Book values as at  31.12.2012 309 82 391  

 
Concessions, property rights and licences relate su bstantially to software. 

40DNick Holding plc Group Annual Report 2012 - Group Accounts



 

7.2 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

KEUR Land  Buildings Machinery  
Other 

equipment 

Advance 
payments / 

Assets under 
construction 

  Total 

Acquisition and production costs     

Position at 01.01.2011 3,328 10,582 18,470 4,723 1, 249   38,352 

Additions 0 19 915 361 1,220   2,515 

Disposals -754 -1,506 -640 -125 -74   -3,099 

Currency differences 0 0 1 5 0   6 

Transfers 0 0 0 159 -159   0 

Position at 31.12.2011 2,574 9,095 18,746 5,123 2,2 36   37,774 

    

Depreciation     

Position at 01.01.2011 255 6,156 12,320 2,986 0   21,717 

Additions 0 206 1,773 443 0   2,422 

Disposals 0 -338 -640 -114 0   -1,092 

Currency differences 0  0 1 -4  0   -3  

Position at 31.12.2011 255 6,024 13,454 3,311 0   23,044 

    

Book values as at 01.01.2011 3,073 4,426 6,150 1,73 7 1,249   16,635 

Book values as at 31.12.2011 2,319 3,071 5,292 1,81 2 2,236   14,730 
    

 

KEUR Land  Buildings Machinery  
Other 

equipment 

Advance 
payments / 

Assets under 
construction 

  Total 

Acquisition and production costs     

Position at 01.01.2012 2,574 9,095 18,746 5,123 2,2 36   37,774 

Additions 0 0 1,884 426 325   2,635 

Disposals -1 -10 -804 -97 0   -912 

Currency differences 0  1 -1  -2  0   -3  

Transfers 96 -96 2,236 0 -2,236   0 

Position at 31.12.2012 2,669 8,990 22,061 5,449 325    39,493 

    

Depreciation     

Position at 01.01.2012 255 6,024 13,454 3,311 0   23,044 

Additions 5 186 1,646 402 0   2,239 

Disposals 0 -3 -747 -93 0   -843 

Currency differences 0 0 49 -3 0  46 

Transfers 25 -25 0 0 0   0 

Position at 31.12.2012 285 6,182 14,402 3,617 0   24,486 

    

Book values as at 01.01.2012 2,319  3,071  5,292  1,812  2,236    14,730  

Book values as at 31.12.2012 2,384 2,808 7,659 1,83 2 325   15,008 
    
    

 

The book values of land and buildings is KEUR 5,192  (previous year: KEUR 5,390). Land and buildings ar e 

unencumbered. 
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Machinery and technical equipment financed herewith  are used as security for existing bank debts of 

KEUR 1,994 (previous year: KEUR 2,371). 

Net book assets from finance leasing agreements cap italised amount to KEUR 314 (previous year: KEUR 57 7). 

Additions to depreciation in the 2012 and 2011 busi ness years do not include impairments. 

7.3 INVESTMENTS AND NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLES 
 
 

KEUR Investments  
Non-current 
receivables 

  Total 

Acquisition costs   

Position at 01.01.2011 1,101 628 1,729 

Equity valuations 332 0 332 

     

Disposals -1,433  -628    -2,061  

Position at 31.12.2011 0 0 0 

  

Amortisation   

Position at 01.01.2011 171 0 171 

Disposals -171 0   -171 

Position at 31.12.2011 0 0 0 

  

Book values as at 01.01.2011 930  628    1,558  

Book values as at 31.12.2011 0 0 0 
 

KEUR Investments  Loans to 
affiliates 

Non-current 
receivables 

  Total  

Acquisition costs    

Position at 01.01.2012 0 0 0 0 

Additions 0 10,000 0  10,000 

      

      

Position at 31.12.2012 0 10,000 0 10,000 
   

Amortisation    

Position at 01.01.2012 0 0 0 0 

Additions 0 0 0   0 

Position at 31.12.2012 0 0 0 0 
   

Book values as at 01.01.2012 0 0 0   0 

Book values as at 31.12.2012 0 10,000 0 10,000 
 
 
The group held two joint venture interests at 1 Jan uary 2011. 

The group's 50% interest in Compania Europea de Cos peles SA was held by the group company SAXONIA 

EuroCoin GmbH which was itself classified as a disp osal group in the prior year as management intended  to sell 

this company. As such, it is not included in note 7 .3 above. SAXONIA EuroCoin GmbH was sold on 20 Apri l 

2011 and this joint venture interest was therefore transferred out of the group on this date. 

 
Further details concerning the profit arising on di sposal of SAXONIA EuroCoin GmbH are provided in not e 26. 
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At 1 January 2011, the group also held a third inte rest in the joint venture company Innovative Clad S olutions 

Private Limited. This joint venture interest was so ld in December 2011 for consideration of KEUR 560. The 

group's share of the joint venture's net assets at the date of disposal was KEUR 1,262 giving rise to a loss on disposal 

of KEUR 702. 

8.  DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

Deferred taxes result from temporary balance sheet variations due to valuation differences between car rying 

amounts according to IFRS and the tax balance sheet s of the individual group companies and from tax lo sses 

carried forward where they can be used by the indiv idual companies for tax purposes. 

Deferred taxes are allocated to the following asset s and liabilities: 

 31.12.2012 
KEUR 

31. 12.2012 
KEUR 

31.12.2011 
KEUR 

31. 12.2011 
KEUR 

 Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities  

Loss carry forward 1,920 0 0 0  
Property, plant and equipment 489 0 17 36  

Derivative financial instruments 103 230 949 78  

Inventories 142 0 204 109  

Accounts receivables and other assets 49 15 0 249  
Provisions 212 0 85 0  
Accounts payable and other liabilities  326 143 365 0 
Other 10 5 0 0  

Total 3,251 393 1,620 472   

Deferred taxes on derivative financial instruments are accounted for directly in the balance sheet and  in other 

comprehensive income. All other deferred taxes are shown in the income statement. 

Deferred taxes were carried forward for the German group companies at appr. 30 % (previous year: appr.  30 %). 

This corresponds to the average tax rate expected f or future periods. Deferred taxes of the American g roup 

company were assessed at a tax rate of 34.0 % (prev ious year: 34.0 %). 

Tax losses carried forward on the balance sheet dat e were EUR 10.5 million (previous year: EUR 2,5 mil lion). 

The deferred tax assets thereon amount to EUR 3.1 m illion (previous year: EUR 0.7 million). These valu es are 

adjusted by EUR 1.2 million (previous year: EUR 0.7  million) on the basis of estimated usability. 
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9.  CURRENT BANK DEBTS 

 31.12.2012 31.12.2011 
 

 
Current bank debt 5,587 6,119  

Short-term element of long-term loans 300 736  

Total 5,887 6,855   

Financing exists in the form of borrowing base cred it lines on the balance sheet date for variable fin ancing of the 

inventories of Deutsche Nickel GmbH and Auerhammer Metallwerk GmbH amounting to EUR 3,0 million for 

Deutsche Nickel GmbH and 4.0 million for Auerhammer  Metallwerk GmbH (previous year: EUR 15,0 million f or 

Deutsche Nickel GmbH and EUR 10,0 million for Auerh ammer Metallwerk GmbH), which were not utilised at the 

end of the year (previous year: KEUR 10,0 for Deuts che Nickel GmbH and KEUR 0.0 for Auerhammer Metallw erk 

GmbH). For this purpose, the relevant financed inve ntories are assigned as security. The interest rate  was 

4% p.a.. 

The current credit lines include a variable USD cre dit line of the equivalent of KEUR 5.587 (previous year: KEUR 

6.109) for financing trade accounts receivable and inventories of Deutsche Nickel America Inc. For thi s purpose, 

the accounts receivable and inventories of this com pany are assigned as security. The interest rate is  the LIBOR 

rate plus 2.0 %, at least 4.75 %. 

For the 2012 business year, total bank debts of Aue rhammer Metallwerk GmbH amounted to KEUR 1,200 

(previous year: KEUR 2,371), of which KEUR 300 (pre vious year: KEUR 736) are current bank debts. 

10.  TRADE PAYABLES 

All trade accounts payable are due within one year,  and there is standard business reservation of owne rship. The 

book values stated for the monetary liabilities ent ered under this item correspond to their fair value s. 

11.  CURRENT TAX PROVISIONS 

Tax provisions were made for anticipated income tax es for the business year and for anticipated paymen t of 

taxes for previous years. 
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12.  OTHER CURRENT PROVISIONS 

Other current provisions have been made as follows:  

KEUR 01.01.2011 Utilisation Reversal 
Reclass-

ificion Addition 31.12.2011  

In relation to employees 1,729 1,395 0 0 581 915  

Warranty 297 0 0 0 264 561  

Onerous contracts 172 0 52 0 51 171  

Other 703 477 8 - 197 2,515 2,733  

Total 2,901 1,872 60 - 197 3,411 4,380  

       

KEUR 01.01.2012 Utilisation Reversal Reclass-
ificion 

Addition 31.12.2012  

In relation to employees 915  671 34 0 582 792  

Warranty 561 0 90 0 43 514  

Onerous contracts 171  0 160 0 50 61  

Other 2,733  528 71 - 197 529 2,466  

Total 4,380  1,199 355 - 197 1,204 3,833   

Onerous contracts relate to contracted sales where loss is expected. Public obligations relate to the statutory 

requirement to repair waste water treatment facilit ies. 

Other provisions include amounts accrued in respect  of accrued interest, consultancy fees and provisio ns for 

legal claims. 

13.  DEFERRED INCOME 

Deferred income includes only public grants and allowance s already received or confirmed for acquiring 

property, plant and equipment. As a result of the c onditions attached to these grants to retain the ec onomic 

goods acquired in the company for a period of betwe en 3 and 5 years, the benefits are allocated propor tionately 

to future periods. 

14.  OTHER CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Other current and non-current liabilities include: 

 31.12.2012 
KEUR 

31. 12.2011  
KEUR  

Wages and Salaries December 2012/2011 302 313  
Taxes on wages and salaries Decembter 2012/2011 157 178  

Value added tax 76 111  

Social security contributions December 2012/2011 3 51  

Costumers with credit balances 150 154  
Other  658 275  

Total  

 

1,346 1,082  

  Current  1,124 1,082 

  Non-Current - other 222  0 
 
The book values stated for the monetary liabilities  entered under these items correspond to their fair  values. 
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15.  NON-CURRENT BANK DEBTS 

Non-current bank debts at the balance sheet date am ounted to KEUR 900 for the long-term portion of 

financing loans (previous year: KEUR 1,635). 

16.  PROVISIONS FOR PENSIONS AND SIMILAR OBLIGATIONS 

Some of the group companies provide defined benefit  pension plans for their employees. Provisions for pension 

obligations are made for payments due in the form o f old-age and survivors' pensions. The level and ex tent of 

payments depends on the number of years of service and the salary received. Employees can achieve a pe nsion 

level of up to 25 % of their last monthly income. Pa yment commences when an employee reaches the 

pensionable age of 65. 

The obligations arising from defined benefit pensio n plans are calculated using the projected unit cre dit method. 

Pension plans are wholly unfunded. Future obligatio ns are valued on the basis of proportionate perform ance 

entitlements at the balance sheet date. 

Pension costs are included in personnel costs and c omposed as follows: 

 2012 
KEUR 

2011 
KEUR 

Current service costs 15 1 
Interest 44 22  

   

Acturial losses (net) 262 0 
   

Personnel expenses 321 23 
 

The amount shown on the balance sheet for obligatio ns from defined benefit pension plans is derived as  follows: 

 2012 
KEUR 

2011 
KEUR 

   
Cash value of pension commitments financed by provi sions  1,197 837 

 
  

   
Cash value of plan assets 
 

- 53 0 

Total 1,144 837  

Movements in net liability in the business year wer e as follows:   

 2012 2011 

 KEUR KEUR 

Position at the beginning of the year 837 814 
Pension expenses (net) 321 23 

   

Pension payments -14 0 
   

Total 1,144 837  

 

The net pension liability of KEUR 1,144 consists of  provisions for pensions of KEUR 1,170 and of a 

reimbursement right of KEUR 26 from reinsurance cla ims which are shown under other non-current assets.  
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Pension obligations arising from pension commitment s are determined using the projected unit credit me thod, 

taking into account future remuneration and pension  adjustments. 

Pension obligations since the group was established  have developed as follows: EUR 2.1 million in 2005 ; EUR 

1.6 million in 2006; EUR 1.4 million in 2007; EUR 0 .8 million in 2008; EUR 0.8 million in 2009; EUR 0. 8 million 

in 2010, EUR 0.8 million in 2011 and EUR 1,2 millio n in 2012. 

The assumptions on which the calculation is based a re as follows: 

 
2012 

% 
2011 

% 

Interest rate for accounting purposes 3.5 5.25 

Expected interest on plan  0.00 0.00 
Future wage and salary increases 0.00 - 2.00 0.00 - 2.00 
Future pension increases 2.00 1.50  
Mortality tables Heubeck tables  

2005 G 
Heubeck tables 

2005 G 

17.  OTHER NON-CURRENT PROVISIONS 

  

 

KEUR 01.01.2011 Interest Rate Utilisation 
Reclassifi-

cation 
Addition 31.12.2011 

Partial retirement 270 5.25 156 0 20 134 
Employee jubilee 421 5.25 3 0 18 436 
Other 38 5.50 0 0 0 38 

Total 729   
159 0 38 608  

KEUR 01.01.2012 Interest Rate Utilisation 
Reclassifi-

cation 
Addition 31.12.2012 

Partial retirement 134 3.50 81 0 11 64 
Employee jubilee 436 3.50 1 0 51 486 
Other 38 5.50 0 197 0 235 

Total 608 
 

82 197 62 785 

A provision for public obligations of TEUR 197 has been reclassified form current to non-current provi sions as 

the expected due date has been reassessed. The amou nt is accrued in respect of obligations to repair w astewater 

facilities. 

Provisions correspond to the discounted cash values . 
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18.  EQUITY 

Changes in the individual items of equity during th e business year are shown in the separate “Statemen t of 

Changes in Equity”. 

At 31 December 2012 and 2011, the issued capital of  DNick Holding plc was EUR 657,883. This is divided  into 

5,671,318 shares with a nominal value of GBP 0.10 p er share each. On 1 September 2011, the Company 

undertook a bonus issue, the shares being allotted to shareholders pro-rata to their existing sharehol dings. 

51,041,862 shares were allotted with a nominal valu e of GBP 0.01, the bonus issue being affected via a  transfer 

of EUR 575,704 from the profit and loss reserve to share capital, representing the nominal value of th e shares 

issued via the bonus issue. On the same day, the co mpany undertook a share division whereby each share holder 

received 1 new share with a nominal value of GBP 0. 10 in exchange for cancellation of each 10 shares h eld with 

a nominal value of GBP 0.01. The rights attached to  the shares prior and subsequent to the share divis ion remain 

the same. 

During the restructuring process in 2005, the share s of the subsidiaries were brought into DNick Holdi ng plc via 

capital contribution. The capital reserves therefor e include the values of contributions of the subsid iaries.  

The merger reserve includes the net differences bet ween the book value of shares in affiliated compani es and the 

relevant equity valuation of the subsidiaries incor porated in the consolidation at the time of the ini tial 

consolidation. The respective differences of compan ies disposed of are eliminated in the course of 

deconsolidation and a corresponding transfer was al so made to the profit and loss reserves. The merger  reserve 

therefore includes the respective current status of  the differences from the consolidation of capital of the 

companies belonging to the DNick group. 

The revaluation reserve includes the positive and n egative market values of derivative financial instr uments, so-

called cash flow hedges. Deferred taxes relating to  the derivatives are offset within the revaluation reserve. 

Changes in the revaluation reserve are shown in oth er comprehensive income according to the amended 

regulations of IAS 1. 

 

The differences between the equity values of the fo reign subsidiaries incorporated in the consolidatio n resulting 

from exchange rate fluctuations in the period betwe en the time of the initial consolidation and the ba lance sheet 

date are included in the foreign exchange translati on reserve and also reported in other comprehensive  income. 

19.  SALES 

Sales revenues are divided by region as follows: 

Region 2012 2011  

 KEUR KEUR  

Germany 42,173 45,881
European Union excluding Germany 25,490 21,976
Rest of Europe 4,938 9,761
North America 36,402 31,040
Central and South America 1,074 1,488
Rest of the World 26,949 25,770
Sales to Discontinued Operations 0 14

Total 137,026 135,930 
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20.  OTHER OPERATING INCOME  

Other operating income includes: 

 2012 
KEUR 

2011 
KEUR 

  
Profits from the sale of property, plant and equipm ent 593 15
Reversal of provisions 403 58
Grants receivable 400 322
Gains from currency exchange 276 104
Rental income 176 276
Recharges of expenses 152 248
Reversal of trade receivables allowances 31 0
Insurance claims 3 49
Profits from the sale of land and buildings 0 1623
Electricity Tax Refunds 0 484
Other 686 322

Total 2,720  3,501 

In previous year, the group sold land to a third pa rty as this land was surplus to group requirements.  The book 

value of the land sold was KEUR 7, the net sale pro ceeds were EUR 1.6 million giving rise to a profit on disposal of 

EUR 1.6 million. KEUR 100 of the sale proceeds has been deferred and received 2012 and a further KEUR 70 has 

been deferred and will be received in 2013. In 2012 , the group sold machinery and equipment to third p arties. The 

book value amounts 61 KEUR, the sales proceeds were  654 KEUR with the result that the gains realized b y the 

sale amount to KEUR 593. 

21.  OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 

Other operating expenses include: 

 2012 
KEUR 

2011 
KEUR 

Freight / Packaging/ Commissions 2.964 4.395
Legal and consulting fees/ Annual audit/ AGM 2.432 2.094
Repair and maintenance 2.230 3.024
Contributions and fees 1.203 729
Comissions to independent agents 786 0
Travel / Advertising / Trade fairs 767 606
Other third-party services 621 691
Insurance 617 687
Operating lease and rent expenses 527 523
Losses on currency differences 435 51
Bank charges 225 446
Waste disposal 175 136
Telephone / Postage / Office supplies 145 170
Temporary workers 63 500
Loss of disposal fixed assets 41 275
IT expenses 31 149
Bad debt allowances 29 500
Security services 0 232
Other 1,878  4,937

Total 15,169  20,145  
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22.  DEPRECIATION 

No impairments (previous year: KEUR 0) are included  in the depreciation of intangible assets and prope rty, plant 

and equipment of KEUR 2,446 (previous year: KEUR 2, 600). 

23.  INTEREST AND SIMILAR INCOME / INTEREST AND SIMILAR EXPENSES 

Interest income from continuing operations results mainly from bank balances and amounts to KEUR 245 

(previous year: KEUR 210). 

Interest expenses of KEUR 733 (previous year: KEUR 1,415) relate to short-term and long-term bank debt s, 

finance lease obligations and factoring. 

24.  EXCHANGE DIFFERENCES 

There were losses from exchange differences during the business year amounting to KEUR 1,807 (previous  year: 

gains from exchange differences: KEUR 913). 

25.  TAXES ON INCOME 

 2012 2011 
 KEUR KEUR 

 
Current Taxes -812 -1,521  

Deferred Taxes 2,708 - 375  

Total 1,896 -1,896   

Deferred taxes are the result of valuation differen ces between balance sheet item valuation in accorda nce with 

IFRS and the tax balance sheet and the result of ta x losses carried forward, provided that they are us able in 

future periods through offset against anticipated t axable profits. 

The transition from expected to actual reported tax  expenditure is shown below. In order to calculate expected 

tax expenditure, results before income taxes are mu ltiplied by a flat income tax rate of 30.0 %. Expec ted tax 

expenditure is compared with actual tax expenditure . 

 
2012 

KEUR 

2011 

KEUR 

Pre-tax profit 

Group tax rate 

4,606 

30% 

1,646 

30% 

Expected tax expense -1,382 --494 

Tax reductions resulting from tax-free other income  0 0 

Tax increases resulting from non-tax-deductable exp enses -175 -784 

Movement in deferred tax 2,708 -375 

Effects of tax rate differences -50 -52 

Losses brought forward 576 95 
Other tax effects 219 -286 

Actual tax expense 1,896 -1,896  
 

Routine audits by the tax authorities at DNick Hold ing plc are finalized. The final tax audit report i s pending. 
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26.  RESULT FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 

Due to the specific disposal acitivities started in  2010, profit after taxes of the coin blanks segmen t is 

summarised and disclosed separately in the income s tatement as net profit for the year from discontinu ed 

operations in accordance with the standard IFRS 5. The sale of SAXONIA EuroCoin GmbH was successfully 

completed in April 2011. 

Income and expenses of the coin blanks segment unti l 31. March 2011 are structured as follows: 

 
2012 

KEUR 

2011  

KEUR 

Sales 0 24,907

Other operating income 0 53

Changes in inventories of semi-finished goods 0 -2,265

Operating income 0 22,695

Cost of Materials 0 -18,639

Personnel expenses 0 -705

Amortisation/depreciation 0 -280

Other operating expenses 0 -2,626

Other taxes 0 0

Profit from Operations 0 445

Share in loss / gain of joint ventures 0 0

Interest expenses (net) 0 -19

Exchange losses 0 -6

Profit before Tax 0 420

Taxes on income 0 -186

Net profit of the year 0 234

Gain on disposal 0 9,615

Tax expense 0 -161

Net gain 0 9,454  

   
Net result from discontinued operations 0 9,688  
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27.  EARNINGS PER SHARE 

Since the company was not listed as of 31 December 2012 the earnings per share reporting under IAS 33 is not 

required. 

28.  CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

A cash flow statement was prepared in accordance wi th IAS 7. It shows the changes in the group's cash and 

cash equivalents during the business year through t he inflow and outflow of funds. This eliminates the  effects 

within the scope of the consolidated financial stat ements. A distinction is made between payment flows  from 

operating and investment activities as well as from  financial activities. The liquidity shown in the c ash flow 

statement covers only liquid cash and cash equivale nts. 

The effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash an d cash equivalents in foreign currencies is shown s eparately. 

29.  SEGMENT REPORTING 

Since the company was not listed as of 31 December 2012 the segment reporting under IFRS 8 is not requ ired. 

30.  CAPITAL MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

The group's capital management objectives are to en sure the group's ability to continue as a going con cern and 

to provide adequate return to shareholders by prici ng products and services commensurately with the le vel of 

risk. 

The group monitors capital on the basis of the carr ying amount of equity less cash and cash equivalent s as 

presented on the face of the balance sheet. 

The group manages the capital structure and makes a djustments to it in the light of changes in economi c 

conditions and the risk characteristics of the unde rlying assets. Changes to economic conditions inclu des 

changes in general economic conditions as well as s pecific industry-related factors, principally the p rice of 

metals, which can fluctuate substantially and which  therefore have a direct impact on the amount of li quid 

resources tied up in working capital or the need to  draw down borrowing base facilities. 

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structur e, the group ensures borrowing base facilities and accounts 

receivable factoring facilities are available where  capital requirements cannot be met through interna l liquid 

resources. 

31.  RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 

The group is exposed to certain market risks, speci fically to currency risk, interest rate risk and ot her price risks 

from its operating activities, and uses different f inancial instruments to hedge against these risks. Details are 

given in note 4. 

The group's risk management is coordinated at its h ead office in Schwerte, Germany, in close co-operat ion with 

the board of directors, and focuses on actively sec uring the group's short to medium term cash flow by  

minimising the exposure to financial markets. 
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The group does not actively engage in the trading o f financial assets for speculative purposes nor doe s it write 

options. The most significant financial risks to wh ich the group is exposed are described below. See n ote 1 for a 

summary of the group's financial assets and financi al liabilities by category. 

FOREIGN CURRENCY SENSITIVITY 

Most of the group's transactions are carried out in  euros. Exposure to currency fluctuations arises pr imarily 

from group companies holding accounts payable and a ccounts receivable balances which are denominated i n 

foreign currencies, principally the US dollar and t he pound sterling. 

Whilst the group enters into other transactions den ominated in foreign currencies the value of transac tions is 

small, both individually and in aggregate, and no s ignificant exposure existed during either the curre nt or previous 

business year. 

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign curre ncies are principally short-term in nature. 

To mitigate the group's exposure to foreign currenc y risk, non-euro cash flows are monitored and forwa rd 

exchange contracts are entered into in accordance w ith the group's risk management policies. Where amo unts to 

be paid and received in a specific currency are exp ected to largely offset one another, no further hed ging activity 

is undertaken. 

US dollar denominated financial assets and liabilit ies translated into euros at the closing rate are a s follows: 

2012 2012 2011 2011 
KUSD KEUR KUSD KEUR 

 
Trade receivables 3,796 2,879 5,266 4,061 

Trade payables -187 -142 -160 -115 

Net amount 3,609 2,737 5,106 3,946  

There are no long-term financial assets or liabilit ies denominated in US dollars. 

The following illustrates the sensitivity of the ne t result for the year and equity with respect to th e group's 

financial assets and financial liabilities and the US dollar/euro exchange rate. The highest and lowes t exchange 

rates quoted during the business year are applied t o calculate foreign currency sensitivity. The speci fic 

percentage by which the foreign currency items are shown to differ corresponds to the difference betwe en the 

rate on the reporting date and the highest and lowe st rate during the year. 

If the euro had strengthened against the US dollar by 8.9 % (2011: 12.6 %), this would have resulted i n an 

increase in the pre-tax result for the year of KEUR  243 (2011: increase of KEUR 497), and equity would  have 

decreased respectively by the same amount. 

If the euro had weakened against the US dollar by 1 .6 % (2011: 0.5 %), this would have resulted in a r eduction 

in the pre-tax result for the year of KEUR 45 (2011 : reduction of KEUR 20), and equity would have 

increased respectively by the same amount.  

Pound sterling denominated financial assets and lia bilities translated into euros at the closing rate are as 

follows: 

2012 2012 2011 2011 
KGBP KEUR KGBP KEUR 

 
Trade receivables 667 819 0 0 

Net amount 667 819 0 0  
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The following illustrates the sensitivity of the ne t result for the year and equity with respect to th e group's 

financial assets and financial liabilities and the pound sterling/euro exchange rate. The highest and lowest 

exchange rates quoted during the business year are applied to calculate foreign currency sensitivity. The 

specific percentage by which the foreign currency i tems are shown to differ corresponds to the differe nce 

between the rate on the reporting date and the high est and lowest rate during the year. 

If the euro had strengthened against the pound ster ling by 4.8 %, this would have resulted in an incre ase in the 

pre-tax result for the year of KEUR 39, and equity would have decreased respectively by the same amoun t. 

If the euro had weakened against the pound sterling  by 3.7 %, this would have resulted in a reduction in the 

pre-tax result for the year of KEUR 30, and equity would have increased respectively by the same amoun t. 
 
There are no long-term financial assets or liabilit ies denominated in pound sterling. 

Exposure to foreign exchange rates varies during th e year depending on the volume of overseas transact ions. 

Nonetheless, the analysis above is considered to be  representative of the group's exposure to currency  risk. 

INTEREST RATE SENSITIVITY 

The group has credit facilities primarily to financ e working capital requirements, the amount of worki ng capital 

being principally dependent on the market price of raw materials, mostly nickel and copper. Both debt and 

credit facilities are on variable interest rates. 

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the pre-tax net result for the year and equity to a  reasonably 

possible change in interest rates with effect from the beginning of the year. These changes are expect ed to be 

realistic based on observation of current market co nditions. The calculations are based on the group's  financial 

instruments held at each balance sheet date. 

 2012 2012 2011 2011 
KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR 

 +0.25 % -0.25 % +0.25 % -0.25 %  

Effect on Pre-tax result for the year/Equity -40 40  -62 62 

CREDIT RISK ANALYSIS 

The group's exposure to credit risk is limited to t he carrying amount of financial assets recognised a t the balance 

sheet date, as summarised below for continuing oper ations: 

 2012  2011  
 KEUR KEUR 

 

Cash and cash equivalents  7,743 11,184 

Trade and other receivables  
18,899 15,616 

 Total  26,642 26,800   

The group continuously monitors defaults of custome rs and other counterparties, identified either indi vidually or 

by group, and incorporates this information into it s credit risk controls. Where available at reasonab le cost, 

external credit ratings and / or reports on custome rs and other counterparties are obtained and also u sed, as 

are letters of credit. The group's policy is to dea l only with creditworthy counterparties. 
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It is assumed that all of the above financial asset s that are not impaired at the balance sheet date a re of good 

credit quality, including financial assets that are  past due. See note 3 for further information on im pairment of 

trade receivables that are past due. 

In respect of trade and other receivables, the grou p is not exposed to any significant credit risk wit h respect to 

any single counterparty or any group of counterpart ies having similar characteristics. The credit risk  for cash 

and cash equivalents is considered negligible, sinc e the counterparties are reputable banks with high- quality 

external credit ratings. 

LIQUIDITY RISK ANALYSIS 

The group manages its liquidity needs by carefully monitoring scheduled debt servicing payments for lo ng-term 

financial liabilities, repayment of credit line obl igations as well as cash flows due in day-to-day bu siness. 

Liquidity needs are monitored in various time bands , short-term requirements being monitored on a day- to-day 

and week-to-week basis on a rolling 3 month project ion. 

The group maintains cash balances and credit facili ties to meet short-term financing requirements. Fun ding for 

long-term liquidity needs is additionally secured b y allocation of liquid resources to meet liabilitie s as they fall 

due and securing additional financing, where necess ary. Long-term liquidity requirements relate to cre dit 

facilities required to finance ongoing working capi tal requirements. 

At 31 December 2012, the group's liabilities have c ontractual maturities which are summarised below: 
 
 up to 1 year 1 up to 5 years 

 KEUR KEUR 
 

Bank loans 5,887 900 

Finance lease obligations 128 55 

Trade payables 6,939 0 
Other financial liabilities 1,245 221 

Total 14,199 1,176   

This compares to the maturity of the group's financ ial liabilities in the previous year as follows: 

 up to 1 year 1 up to 5 years 
 KEUR KEUR 

 

Bank loans 6,855 1,635  

Finance lease obligations 197 162  

Trade payables 6,689 0  
Other financial liabilities 1,356 0  

Total 15,097 1,797 

 
The above contractual maturities reflect the paymen t obligations which may differ from the carrying va lues of the 

liabilities at the balance sheet date. 
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32.  POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS 

At the Annual General Meeting on 26 July 2012 a res olution was raised allowing the conversion of the c ompany 

from a public limited company (PLC) to a private li mited company (Ltd) after cancellation of its listi ng. The claim 

from August 2012 against the General Meeting resolu tion to transform the company from a PLC into a Lim ited was 

dismissed on 23 January 2013 by the High Court in L ondon in first instance.  Finally, the claimants ha ve declared 

on 27 March 2013 not to challenge the court’s decis ion.  

The DN Service GmbH was liquidated on 10 April 2013 . 

33.  OTHER INFORMATION 

OTHER FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS 

Orders for metal requirements were placed to hedge purchase risks as customary in the trade. 

Furthermore, rental and operating leasing obligatio ns and capacity binding contracts of KEUR 5,630 (pr evious 

year: KEUR 9,634) for up to one year and of KEUR 13 7 (previous year: KEUR 373) for between one and fiv e 

years. 

Operating leases: 

Included therein are operating leases of KEUR 1,333  (previous year: KEUR 2,080) for up to one year and  of KEUR 

77 (previous year: KEUR 373) for between one and fi ve years. 

Finance leases: 

Finance lease obligations exist of KEUR 120 (previo us year: KEUR 146) for up to one year and of KEUR 5 4 

(previous year: KEUR 218) for between one and five years. 

HEDGING POLICY AND FINANCIAL DERIVATIVES 

The business operations and financial transactions of the DNick group are exposed to financial risks. These 

risks arise in particular from price fluctuations. 

According to the DNick group's risk management syst em, not only are these risks identified, analysed a nd 

assessed, they are also limited by the use of deriv ative financial instruments. These instruments are not 

permitted to be held for speculative purposes. 

One source of risk is the fluctuation in the price of raw materials, in particular of nickel and coppe r. These 

metals are traded on the London Metal Exchange (LME ) at their daily quotations. The companies mainly 

manufacture to order. Orders received are confirmed  at the applicable daily quoted price and at the sa me time 

futures contracts are made for the acquisition of r aw materials in order to hedge against future price  

movements. Here the order and purchase hedge form o ne unit, so that the effects on the company's earni ngs 

position are covered. 

The increase in the price of metals at unchanged sa les volumes results in a corresponding increase in the 

value of working capital. Conversely, working capit al decreases when the price of metals falls. The gr oup 

companies have made financing available in the form  of asset-based borrowing lines for variable financ ing of 

working capital. 
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Exchange risks arise for foreign currency receivabl es. Open items exposed to exchange risk are hedged - as 

required - using derivative financial instruments. Only exchange forwards are used for this. 

EMPLOYEES 

Employees in the business year averaged 381 (previo us year: 382), thereof administrative staff 132 (pr evious 

year: 130), 235 industrial workers (previous year: 232) and 12 trainees (previous year: 20).  

AUDITOR REMUNERATION 

Fees payable to the company's auditor for auditing the annual financial statements amount to 45 KEUR 

(previous year: KEUR 71). 

Fees for statutory audits of the subsidiaries amoun t to KEUR 139 (previous year: KEUR 176). 

Other services relating to taxation compliance and advice amount to KEUR 0 (previous year: KEUR 196). 

RELATIONSHIPS AND TRANSACTIONS BETWEEN RELATED PERS ONS AND COMPANIES 

EU Coin Ltd was a related party of the group as a d irector of the company was also a director of EU Co in Ltd up 

to February 2012 Amounts due from EU Coin Ltd exist  amounting to KEUR 0 (previous year: KEUR 0).  

DNick Holding plc granted a loan to its parent.  Am ounts due from the parent at 31 December 2012 were 

KEUR 10,000.  The loan is for two years, and made o n an arm’s length basis.  DNick Holding plc also 

invested money on a short term basis.  Amounts due from the parent at 31 December 2012 were 

TEUR 5,314.  Interest income from the parent in 201 2 was TEUR 59. The interest receivable was 

outstanding at the year-end. 

Operating activities amounted to TEUR 147 expenses with the parent and TEUR 388 income from affiliates . 

This resulted in an outstanding balance of TEUR 339  with affiliates. 

ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY 

In the opinion of the directors, there is no ultima te controlling party at 31 December 2012 or 31 Dece mber 2011. 
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DIRECTORS OF THE PARENT COMPANY AND THEIR REMUNERATIO N 

Dr. Jürgen Platt – appointed 23 February 2012 (Chai rman) 

Herbert Baumann – appointed 23 February 2012 

E J C Altenhoven – resigned 23 February 2012  

P J Felton-Smith – resigned 23 February 2012 

F-J Seipelt –resigned 23 February 2012 

H-J Krüger – resigned 23 February 2012 

G A O Kulenkampff – resigned 23 February 2012 

The directors received remuneration totaling KEUR 5 81(previous year: KEUR 2,382) for their work. No di rector 

accrued pension benefits during the current or prev ious business year. 

Within the scope of an “Award Agreement” concluded in 2010 and due to the change of control over the s hares of 

DNick Holding plc, 4 directors received a bonus of KEUR 1,042 in 2011. During 2011, the company issued  share 

appreciation rights (SARs) to certain directors tha t require the company to pay the intrinsic value of  the SARs to 

the directors at the date of exercise as a cash awa rd. The directors were entitled to future bonus pay ments 

depending on the performance of the DNick Holding p lc share price. The fair value of the SARs was dete rmined 

using a modified Black-Scholes Pricing Model using the assumptions detailed below. 

Number of options granted 240,000 

Weighted average share price EUR 7 

Expected volatility 1.7% 

Expected life 8 years 

Risk free rate 3.43% 

Expected dividend yield - 

The cash bonus payable under the SARs was calculate d as being the excess of the average share price of  the 

Company on the day preceding the day that rights un der the SARs are exercised above EUR 7.00, multipli ed by 

the number of options exercised. During the year en ded 31 December 2011, a change in control in the Co mpany 

took place and the terms of the SARs state that, in  such a situation, the conditions attached to the S ARs vest in 

full immediately and the relevant directors are ent itled to receive a cash payment if they choose to e xercise their 

rights under the SARs scheme. All directors partici pating in the scheme exercised their rights on 29 J une 2011. 

The average share price on the preceding day was EU R 11.34, giving rise to a cash payment of EUR 4.34 per 

option, ie, EUR 1,041,600 in total. No charge had b een booked in the profit and loss account in the ye ar ended 

31 December 2010 as the charge was immaterial to th ose financial statements. Accordingly, the total ex pense 

included in the profit and loss account for the yea r ended 31 December 2011 is EUR 1,041,600. All righ ts under 

the SARs have been exercised during the year 2011 a nd the SARs scheme has been terminated. 

The directors of the group are the same as the key management personnel as defined by LAS 24 Related P arty 

disclosures. 
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LEGAL STATUS 

REGISTERED OFFICE, INCORPORATION, CAPITAL, REGISTER , PURPOSE  

DNick Holding plc is a public limited company under  English Law with its registered office at No. 1 Po ultry, 

London, EC2R 8JR, United Kingdom (UK). The business  place and administrative centre of the company is 

Rosenweg 15, 58239 Schwerte, Germany. 

The business is registered at Companies House in th e United Kingdom under number 5398216. There is a 

branch office in Germany, entered in the Commercial  Register of Hagen Local Court under HRB 7769. 

The company's business year runs from 1 January of each year to 31 December of the same calendar year.  

DNick Holding plc was formed to act as a holding co mpany for the former business activities and to be used as 

the vehicle for the financial, balance sheet and le gal restructuring of Deutsche Nickel AG. For this r eason, DNick 

Holding plc was established by a declaration on 17 March 2005 made by DNick Ltd, London, United Kingdo m 

(hereinafter referred to as "DNick Ltd") and one di rector, with an authorised share capital of GBP 100 ,000, divided 

into 100,000 ordinary shares with a nominal value o f GBP 1.00 per share. 

50,000 shares with a total nominal value of GBP 50, 000.00 were initially issued, of which 49,999 share s were 

issued to DNick Ltd and one share to one director i n trust for DNick Ltd. 

At 31 May 2005, the authorised capital was redistri buted into 10 million shares with a nominal value o f GBP 

0.01 per share. The 50,000 shares already issued we re converted accordingly into 5.0 million shares. 

In March 2006, the subscribed capital was increased  through cash contribution, initially by issuing 12 ,714 

shares with a total nominal value of GBP 127.14. Th is increase related to the implementation of a debt /equity 

swap in April 2006, in which a total of 5,012,713 s hares were transferred to the creditors of DNick Lt d and EU 

Coin Ltd. One share remained with DNick Ltd. Of the  shares made available in the course of the debt/eq uity 

swap, 853 shares were initially withdrawn again bec ause of a technical correction to the amount of the  accepted 

creditor claims. 

During the restructuring process, DNick Holding plc  issued certified options in an option contract of 22 March 

2005, which entitled the option holders to hold a t otal of around 7.7 % of the share capital of DNick Holding plc. 

These options were provided in particular in respec t of a bridging loan, which was used to finance the  

acquisition of shares in Deutsche Nickel AG by DNic k Ltd on 24 December 2004 as well as the initial li quidity 

requirements of DNick Ltd. The options, which were issued in relation to the loan, entitled the lender s to a 

holding of the share capital of DNick Holding plc i n addition to the repayment of the loan. In April 2 006 the 

option holders exercised their option rights. In fu lfilment of this option, DNick Holding plc issued a  total of 

390,242 new shares with a nominal value of GBP 3,90 2.42 and transferred them to the option holders. Th is 

option is thereby fulfilled. 

On 9 March 2007, the subscribed capital was increas ed through cash contribution by issuing 26,287 shar es 

with a total nominal value of GBP 262.87. At the sa me time, the 853 shares withdrawn in the course of the 

debt/equity swap were issued. The increase in share  capital was achieved through the partial exercisin g of an 

option granted to DNick Ltd (option contract of 8 M arch 2006), whereby DNick Ltd or the administrators  of the 

Company Voluntary Arrangement were granted the righ t to up to 160,000 shares for servicing additional claims 

of creditors of DNick Ltd. 

On 3 May 2007, 68,755 shares, on 5 September 2007, 46,486 shares, on 28 March 2008, 60,265 shares, and  on 

2 April 2009, 66,569 shares were issued as a share bonus as part of the management incentive plan agre ed in 
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2006, after the relevant conditions were fulfilled.  This management incentive plan is therefore fulfil led and 

terminated. 

On 31 December 2010, the subscribed capital of DNic k Holding plc subsequently amounted to GBP 56,713.1 8, 

divided into 5,671,318 shares with a nominal value of GBP 0.01 per share. 

On 1 September 2011, the Company undertook a bonus issue, the shares being allotted to shareholders 

prorate to their existing shareholdings. 51,041,862  shares were allotted with a nominal value of GBP 0. 01, 

the bonus issue being affected via a transfer of EU R 575,704 from the profit and loss reserve to share  capital, 

representing the nominal value of the shares issued  via the bonus issue. On the same day, the company 

undertook a share division whereby each shareholder  received 1 new share with a nominal value of GBP 0 .10 in 

exchange for cancellation of each 10 shares held wi th a nominal value of GBP 0.01. The rights attached  to the 

shares prior and subsequent to the share division r emain the same. 

FORM AND EVIDENCING OF SHARES 

The shares are evidenced in a global certificate. T he shareholders have a claim for individual evidenc ing of the 

shares. This claim only applies to the shareholder entered in the register, the Bank of New York Depos itary 

(Nominees) Ltd., London. The Bank of New York Depos itary (Nominees) Ltd. holds the shares in its capac ity as 

so-called nominee.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

Dr. Jürgen E. Platt    Herbert Baumann 

Director      Director 

 

London, 12 June 2013  

 

London, 28 June 2013
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